1. **INTRODUCTION**

On December 6, 2013 Jared Killey filed a Petition for Dissolution of his marriage to his wife, Elizabeth. They have one child of the marriage, Aaron Samuel Killey who is 4.

Jared appeals the Trial Court's errors in establishing a Parenting Plan for Aaron that is manifestly unreasonable, is not consistent with WA State Statute and is not in Aaron's best interests.¹

2. **JURISDICTION**

The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction because the Trial Court issued a final order that affects a substantial right of the Appellant to parent his child as he sees fit and because the Trial Court denied the Appellant Due Process of Law by allowing testimony, known to be false, to stand uncorrected. The Trial Court denied the Appellant his right to be heard according to Law.

¹ RCW Title 26 Chapter 26.09

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1 The Trial Court Erred When It Allowed Testimony, Known To Be False, To Stand Uncorrected
- 2 The Trial Court Misapplied RCW 26.09.191(1) (2)
- 3 The Trial Court Violated Rules of Evidence and Procedure
- 4 The Trial Court's Process Was Unconstitutional

ISSUES PERTAINING TO ERRORS

1 The Trial Court Erred When It Allowed Testimony, Known To Be False, To Stand Uncorrected

> The Trial Court Issued Judgments Based On Testimony Known To Be False.

Judicial and Non-Judicial Officers of the Court Made Materially False Statements on the Records

2 The Trial Court Misapplied RCW 26.09.191(1) (2)

> The Trial Court Failed To Follow the Requirements under RCW 26.09 When It Established a Parenting Plan for Aaron

The Trial Court Erred When It Placed Restrictions on Jared's Residential Time with Aaron Based on RCW 26.09.191(1)(2)

The Trial Court Did Not Make an Express Finding to Support the Residential Time Restrictions

There Is No Evidence to Support the Court's Finding of **Domestic Violence**

3 The Trial Court Violated Rules of Evidence and Procedure

Judicial Officers Testified From The Bench.

The Trial Court Excluded Admissible Expert Testimony

4 The Trial Court's Process Was Unconstitutional

> The Trial Court Did Not Protect the Appellant's Right To Due Process.

The Trial Court Violated the Appellant's Right to Be Heard.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Jared Killey is the Appellant in this case. The Respondent is his former wife, Elizabeth. The parties were married in Seattle on September 13, 2003 and separated in June, 2013.

On Dec. 6, 2013 Jared filed a Petition for Dissolution of the marriage in Superior Court of WA King County, 13-3-13106-8 SEA. There is one child of the marriage, Aaron Samuel Killey who is 4. Elizabeth has one son from a former relationship, Marlon who is 18. Jared appeals the Parenting Plan established for Aaron by the Superior Court of Washington for King County, Seattle on 12/4/2014.

Trial Court erred when it invoked RCW 26.09.191(1) (2) to restrict Jared's residential time with Aaron to 24 days a year with no overnights. There is no basis for this restriction. The Parenting Plan is manifestly unreasonable and is not consistent with RCW Title 26 Chapter 26.09 and must be vacated.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This court reviews provisions of a parenting plan for abuse of discretion In re Marriage of Littlefield, 133 Wn. 2d 39, 46 (1997)

A trial court abuses its discretion if its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or untenable reasons. Id at 47

A court's decision is manifestly unreasonable if it is outside the range of acceptable choices given the facts and the acceptable legal standard. Id. at 47

A decision is based on untenable reasons if it is based on an incorrect standard or if the facts do not meet the requirements of the correct standard. Id.

A decision is based on untenable grounds if the factual findings are unsupported by the record. Id.

An Appellate Court will not disturb a trial court's finding in a parenting plan if they are supported by 'ample evidence'

<u>In re Marriage of Kovacs</u> 121 Wn. 2d 795, 810 (1993)

Required findings must be sufficiently specific to permit meaningful review and at a minimum must indicate the factual basis for ultimate conclusions. In re Dependency of C.R.B., 62 Wn.App. 608, 618 (1991) statutory interpretation is a question of law reviewed de novo. <u>In re Marriage of Katare</u>, 125 Wn.App. 813, 825 (2005)

BACKGROUND

Prior to the marriage Jared purchased a 2 bedroom 1 bath condo in Kirkland WA which became the family home for the entire duration of the marriage. Jared worked next door at Safeway and Elizabeth worked across the street at Subway.

The family was well known and well respected in the community by neighbors and residents who regularly passed through their lines at their retail stores. The children were also well known in the community and were known to be happy, healthy, well-behaved children.

Of interest in this case is that in November 1994 when Jared was 17 he was critically injured in an auto accident when he was the front seat passenger in a car that lost control on an icy highway 522 in Maltby and was T-boned by another vehicle. Jared suffered multiple life-threatening traumas to the chest and abdomen as well as severe traumatic brain injury. As a result Jared suffers from residual pain of the lower spine and pelvis. Jared has some residual memory loss and some residual aphasia.

This is only relevant because Elizabeth used Jared's brain injury against him in the dissolution proceedings.

The Father's Parenting Is Beyond Reproach

In his Pro Se effort to represent himself during the pre-trial phase and dissolution trial Jared was respectful, intelligent and articulate. He

expressed deep concern for Aaron and is seeking custody. There is nothing to indicate that his brain injury affects his ability to parent his child and there is absolutely no information to support a contention that Jared ever used or abused any drugs or alcohol.

Jared's parenting history is beyond reproach. He parented Marlon for 10 years and during that time Marlon was never ill or injured, he was never in trouble at school, never in trouble with the law. Marlon graduated from high school and is a responsible adult.

Likewise in Jared's custody, Aaron was a happy healthy child and was never sick or injured.

During the marriage both parents worked full-time but Aaron never went to day care. Aaron was always with Jared except for the 32 hours a week that Jared was at Safeway. During those hours Aaron was with Elizabeth, Marlon or the paternal grandmother.

The parties separated in June, 2013. There was no particular incident that precipitated the separation; Jared had planned it for several years but the separation was delayed when Elizabeth became pregnant with Aaron in 2010.

After the separation in June 2013, Marlon and Elizabeth stayed in the family home, the Kirkland condo. Jared took his clothes, computer and Aaron's crib, clothes and toys and secured a small two-room flat in a

private residence a mile from the family home. Aaron was shuttled back and forth between mother and father daily.

Things were working out well and everyone was adjusting until September, 2013 when Elizabeth moved her new boyfriend, a convicted felon² named Kurt Krinke into the family home.

Non-stop conflict began revolving around this guy Krinke, who started instigating conflict between Jared and Elizabeth and started injecting himself into Jared's relationship with Aaron by trying to push Jared out and take over as Aaron's father.

Within just a few weeks after Krinke moved into the condo child exchanges became difficult. Aaron started acting scared to return home with Elizabeth and wanted to stay full time with Jared. By November Jared wasn't getting Aaron as often, Elizabeth started leaving Aaron in the unsupervised care of her new boyfriend.

It Was In November, 2013 That Aaron Started Showing The First Signs of Abuse.

December 4, 2013 Elizabeth sent Jared a text saying that Aaron was seriously ill and needed to go to the emergency room. Jared took Aaron to his apartment and observed that Aaron only had the common

² WA State Patrol background check reveals multiple Class A and B felony and

cold and had no need for emergency care. This is documented in the medical record from 12/7/2013. CP 182

When Elizabeth came to Jared's apartment that night 12/4/2013 to pick Aaron up, Aaron again was scared and wanted to stay with Jared.

Elizabeth was furious because Jared didn't take Aaron to the ER and started verbally abusing Jared about it. Aaron was scared and crying. Jared was becoming very concerned about Aaron's behavior toward Elizabeth when she came to pick him up. RP 174 @14-25; RP 175@13-25

Jared was worried about Aaron and decided not to send him home with Elizabeth and told her she had to leave but she refused. Jared pushed her out the door and locked her out.

Krinke became involved when Elizabeth called him to assist her in breaching Jared's locked door. Krinke and Elizabeth abducted Aaron by force from Jared's apartment.

Aaron was sequestered in the Kirkland condo and Jared was held at bay by threats of arrest and Order of Protection.

The neglect and abuse of Aaron began in earnest.

After gaining physical control of Aaron, on December 4, Krinke advised Elizabeth to call police and get Jared arrested, which she did. Jared was charged with assault 4 DV. On July 21, 2014 Jared was found not guilty of Assault 4 DV during a two-day jury trial in Kirkland Municipal Court in regard to this incident.

In the meantime, on December 6, 2013 Jared filed a Petition for Dissolution of the marriage. He proposed a fair division of community assets and liabilities and proposed a Parenting Plan that continued parenting Aaron as before. CP@ 13

On December 27, 2013 Elizabeth filed her Response to Jared's Petition for Dissolution and attached 4 handwritten pages in which she claims she paid all of the family's expenses during the marriage with her own income, with no help from Jared, and claims a right to all Personal and Community property of the marriage, both cars, Jared's condo and all appliances, all tax exemptions for both children, child support and maintenance while claiming that she should not be responsible for any community debts.

Elizabeth expressed her resolve to sabotage Aaron's relationship with his father when she proposed a parenting plan which allowed no time for Jared and Aaron ever. CP@ 24

After filing her Response to Jared's Petition for Dissolution, Elizabeth also filed a Petition for Order for Protection on January 16, 2014 naming Aaron as a protected person and has used the incident in Jared's

apartment on the night of Dec 4 as justification for keeping Aaron away from Jared.

RP page 15@17 to page 22@4

The Trial Court Erred When It Allowed Testimony Known To Be False To Stand Uncorrected

The Order for Protection should be vacated because Elizabeth has used this Order multiple times in attempts to get Jared arrested again and again. CP101-168 Jared has not violated any Court order. The Order for Protection is based on false testimony and is being used to deny Jared access to his child.

Less than two weeks after the ex-parte order for 'protection' was signed, on January 29, 2014, Aaron was left in the unsupervised care of Krinke and wound up at the emergency room with blunt force cardiac injury and fluid in his lungs. CP@184

Elizabeth was listed as 'unavailable' at the Jan 29, 2014 ER visit but Krinke was instructed in no uncertain terms to return the child for a recheck within 48 hours. The Doctor stressed the importance of this several times in his report but these instructions were not followed.³

³ Merck Manual of Medical Information Home Edition 1997 pg. 163 Pneumonia can become suddenly fatal and is the 6th leading cause of death. Aaron was at extreme risk when follow up care was neglected.

By the time the hearing for the Protection Order happened on February 13, 2014 Jared hadn't seen Aaron for over 10 weeks. While the Superior Court King County was restraining Jared, Aaron was being abused and injured in the custody of his mother and Krinke.

On Feb 13, 2014 Commissioner Canada - Thurston passed custody from Jared to Elizabeth based, not on domestic violence or assault, but on completely false testimony regarding Aaron's physical care.

Elizabeth alleged that Aaron had pneumonia on 12/4/2013 and that Jared had refused to take Aaron to the doctor. Elizabeth uses this false allegation as justification for her behavior at Jared's apartment that night.

RP Feb13pg 9-11.

Court begins verbally berating Jared for something that was not even true and telling him that he cannot say anymore in his own defense. 4 Court: Sir I want to let you know that will be really important if in fact what you just testified to turns out what you thought was the sniffles was pneumonia. I'm not saying that for you to say one more word, not one word. 5 I'm just telling you that it will look bad for you if the child on that weekend was diagnosed with pneumonia it will look bad.

⁴ Canon 2 Rule 2.6 Ensuring the right to be heard. (A) a judge shall accord to every person who has a legal interest in a proceeding or that person's lawyer the right to be heard according to the law. Comment (1) the right to be heard is an essential component of a fair and impartial system of justice. Substantive rights of litigants can be protected only if procedures protecting the right to be heard are observed. ⁵ id

Jared: Can I say one thing? (Jared knows that Aaron did not have pneumonia on Dec 4, 2013)

Court: No I meant it when I said no.⁶ I'm reissuing the order for protection. I'm sending it for Family Court Services for a full investigation to discern what is going on fully here and what treatment should be ordered.7

Here the Court admits it does not know what is going on but issues multiple adverse judgements against Jared anyway.

The necessary evidence was already in the courtroom; medical records that verified Jared's testimony and impeached Elizabeth's. An outside investigation was not necessary and took months to complete while it left Aaron at risk for further abuse and neglect and violated Jared's fundamental liberty right to care and control of his child.

The case was sent to FCS where Social Workers became involved and caused the case to be extended for many months while they wrote their reports.

Jared filed a motion for reconsideration that very day, which was heard on February 25, 2014. Jared again presented the medical records

⁶ After telling the appellant that he can say no more in his own defense and in defense of his relationship with his child Commissioner issues multiple adverse rulings and orders against the Appellant.

⁷ Canon 2 Rule 2.9(3)(c) a judge shall not investigate facts in a matter pending or impending before that judge and shall consider only the evidence presented and any facts that may properly be judicially noticed unless expressly authorized by law.

showing that Elizabeth's testimony was false and that she had blamed Jared for the illness and serious injury that happened on January 29 in Elizabeth's custody, and while in the unsupervised care of Krinke.

RP Feb 25 pg. 15

Commissioner proceeded to testify from the bench⁸ on behalf of Elizabeth claiming that 'she did prove she took the child to the doctor 'repeatedly' in December'. RP Feb 25 pg.16@4

This is not what the record says. She took him only on December 7, 2013 and Aaron was diagnosed with the common cold, just as Jared had said. CP 182 Aaron did not have pneumonia in Jared's care as Elizabeth had testified at hearing on Feb 13, 2014.

Even when faced with undeniable written documented medical records, Commissioner continued to argue with Jared and continued giving completely false testimony on behalf of Elizabeth from the bench⁹ and continued interrupting and blaming the father and telling the father that he couldn't speak even though she had the medical record right in front of her and knew that Elizabeth had testified falsely RP pg. 16 @22 Commissioner is relentless in her effort to keep witnessing for Elizabeth

⁸ Fed Rules of Evidence Rule 605. Judge's Competency as a Witness. The presiding judge may not testify as a witness at the trial. A party need not object to preserve the issue.

⁹ Id.

from the bench and to keep Jared and Aaron under the restraint of the protection order. RP Feb 25 pg. 15-17

Commissioner refuses to yield and has held Jared under the restraint of an order for protection until this very day, based entirely on false testimony. The Order for Protection should be vacated.

By the time Jared finally got a visit with Aaron on March 1, 2014, he had not seen Aaron for 12 weeks. (Dec 4, 2013 to March 1, 2014) RP Feb13 pg. 8 line 11-20

Aaron clung to Jared and shook all weekend. At the end of visit Aaron screamed, kicked and tried to cling to Jared to avoid going home with Elizabeth.

After this Jared started recording these exchanges on video. He filed multiple motions, pleadings, declarations and witness Statements but the Trial Court did not respond to his pleadings. March 28, 2014 CP @ 43-50; May 5, CP 52-65 May 23 CP @ 81-85; July 1 CP@ 88-91 Aug 21 CP@ 92-100 172-177

The Trial Court Failed To Follow The Requirements Under RCW 26.09 When It Established A Parenting Plan For Aaron.

On November 10, 2014, the case went to trial before the Honorable Judge Samuel S Chung.

The Trial Court erred when it placed draconian restrictions on Jared's residential time with Aaron without following the requirements under Statute RCW Title 26 Chapter 26.09.

Here the Trial Court abused its discretion and made a grievous error when it incorrectly applied RCW 26.09.191(1) (2) and RCW 26.50.010(1) to severely restrict Jared's residential time with Aaron to only 24 days a year with no overnights.

There is no evidence to support any restriction in Jared's residential time with Aaron under the Statute.

This restriction is worse than manifestly unreasonable; it is directly opposed to the legislative determination for the welfare of children as enacted in RCW Title 26 Chapter 26.09, it is abusive to Aaron, and as such must be vacated.

The Trial Court Did Not Make an Express Finding to Support the Residential Time Restriction

The Trial Court 'may not impose limitations or restrictions in a parenting plan in the absence of express findings under RCW 26.09.191.' Katare, 125 Wn. App. at 826. Any limitations or restrictions imposed 'must be reasonably calculated to address the identified harm'. Id.

Since no harm was identified or even alleged, the restrictions on Jared's residential time are not authorized by Statute.

The Trial Court did not issue an express finding to support the imposition of these restrictions; instead, in the Parenting Plan page 2 of 12 under item II 'Basis for Restrictions 2.1 the Trail Court simply checked a box that reads 'a history of acts of domestic violence as defined in RCW 26.50.010(1) or an assault or sexual assault which causes grievous bodily harm or the fear of such harm.

What is the basis for the restriction? Is it a history of multiple acts of domestic violence as defined in RCW 26.50.010(1)? And if so, which acts? Or is it an assault, or is it a sexual assault, which causes grievous bodily harm or the fear of such harm?

None of those behaviors were even alleged much less proven.

Jared challenges the Trial Court's finding that he ever engaged in any of that type of conduct that would authorize a restriction on his residential time with Aaron.

Before the Trial Court can restrict Jared's residential time with Aaron under RCW 26.09.191 (1)(2) it must meet the requirements enacted by the legislature under RCW 26.09.191(6) which States that 'in determining whether any of the conduct described in this section has occurred the court shall apply the 'civil rules of evidence, proof and procedure'.

The Trial Court imposed restrictions with no evidence of domestic violence as defined in RCW 26.50.010(1) which reads;

As used in this chapter, the following terms shall have the meanings given them:

(1) 'Domestic violence' means: (a) Physical harm, bodily injury, assault, or the infliction of fear of imminent physical harm, bodily injury or assault, between family or household members; (b) sexual assault of one family or household member by another; or (c) stalking as defined in RCW 9A.46.110 of one family or household member by another family or household member.

At trial Elizabeth alleges that during the 10 year marriage Jared 'hit' her twice; once in 2010 when she was four months pregnant and once six-months post separation when the couple had a dispute in Jared's apartment over Aaron's need for an emergency room visit.

RP Nov.10, 2014 PG. 23@6-10.

In the 2010 incident the parties were struggling for control of Jared's cell phone and Elizabeth sustained a small bruise on her lip. Jared left the home and did not return for several months. Elizabeth called police and filed a complaint. Jared was not arrested but he was charged with assault 4 DV, however, Elizabeth declined to assist with prosecution. The case was dismissed with prejudice when she failed to appear at two trial

dates and would not communicate with the Court. The allegation of assault was not proven.

The Trial Court Erred When It Ordered Batterer's Treatment Based On The Opinion Of A Social Worker

In her DV assessment Hunter says it is 'likely' in her 'opinion' that Jared twice used 'physical force' against Elizabeth. CP 118

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