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

of physical abuse but also includes "emotional abuse, mental abuse, verbal 

abuse, and attempts to control the other party." RP 130:15-25. 

The trial court's finding of domestic violence is also consistent 

with the testimony by Ms. Brewer. She found Ms. Rodriguez' allegations 

that Mr. Killey was controlling and "had slapped her, pushed her, thrown 
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things at her, and punched in the face" credible and consistent. CP 429. 

Ms. Brewer reviewed Mr. Killey' s declarations denying the allegations. 

CP 429-430. She did not find his allegations to be credible and instead 

found "sufficient evidence to conclude that the father engaged in 

assaultive behavior on more than one occasion and he has used finances in 

an attempt to control that mother, and as such, a restriction should likely 

be included in the final parenting plan." CP 430. The trial court properly 

exercised its discretion in entering a 26.09 .191 finding against Mr. Killey 

based on a history of domestic violence. 

c. The Residential Schedule Entered by the Trial Court is 
Consistent with RCW 26.09.191 

RCW 26.09.191(2)(a) requires residential restrictions when the 

court makes a finding of domestic violence against one parent. 

Specifically, "the parent's residential time with the child shall be limited" 

if such a finding is made by the court. RCW 26.09.191(2)(a). While 

RCW 26.09.002 establishes it is the state's intent to foster the parent-child 

relationship under the best interest of the child standard, the residential 

restrictions under RCW 26.09 .191 trump the best interests of the child 

standard. RCW 26.09.187, which sets the criteria for establishing a 

parenting plan, states that "the child's residential schedule shall be 

consistent with RCW 26.09.191." RCW 26.09.187(3)(a). While the same 
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statute lists the factors the court is required to consider when determining 

the residential schedule, it specifically excludes consideration of these 

factors in cases involving RCW 26.09.191 findings ("Where the 

limitations of RCW 26.09 .191 are not dispositive ... the court shall 

consider the following factors"). RCW 26.09.187(3)(b). 

Having entered an RCW 26.09.191(2) finding against Mr. Killey 

based on a history of domestic violence, the trial court correctly gave Ms. 

Rodriguez primary custody of A.S.K. and limited Mr. Killey's residential 

time with the child. CP 384-395. Mr. Killey argues that the Parenting 

Plan is manifestly unreasonable because it "effectively ends [his] role as a 

parent and places him in the role of occasional visitor." The trial court 

limited Mr. Killey's residential time to Saturday from 9:00 a.m. to 7:00 

p.m. on the first and third weekend of the month and required him to 

comply with the domestic violence treatment program at Wellspring 

Family Services and with the parenting class DV DADS. CP 386, 389-

390. The Parenting Plan provisions are consistent with the legislative 

intent and with the RCW 26.09.191(2) finding. 

d. Mr. Killey's Parental Rights were not Terminated and he 
was Afforded Appropriate Due Process when the Court 
made RCW 26.09.191(2) Restrictions in the Parenting Plan 

Mr. Killey argues that the trial was unconstitutional and he cites 

Santosky to argue that a parent has a fundamental, protected liberty in 
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raising his child. Santosky v. Kramer, 455 U.S. 745, 102 S. Ct. 1388, 71 

L. Ed.2d 599 (1982). His reliance on Santosky is misplaced. In Santosky, 

the Supreme Court held that before a state can terminate the rights of 

parents regarding their biological children, due process requires the 

implementation of a "clear and convincing evidence" standard, rather than 

the "preponderance of the evidence" standard. But this case does not 

involve the termination of parental rights. Under the Parenting Plan, Mr. 

Killey is able to see the child on the first and third Saturday of every 

month for several hours without any restrictions or supervision. CP 384-

395. His parental rights were not terminated. Mr. Killey makes no 

argument why RCW 26.09.191 and other statutes regarding parenting 

plans should be determined unconstitutional. An assignment of error that 

is not supported by citations to authority will ordinarily not be considered 

on appeal unless it is meritorious on its face. State v. Young, 89 Wn. 2d 

613, 574 P.2d 1171 (1978); State v. Partin, 88 Wn.2d 899, 567 P.2d 1136 

(1977) (disapproved of on other grounds by, State v. Lyons, 174 Wn.2d 

354, 275 P.3d 314 (2012).) 

Mr. Killey also argues that the Parenting Plan is void because it 

was entered without due process. The Supreme Court of Washington has 

held that due process requires that parents have notice, an opportunity to 

be heard, and the right to be represented by counsel. In re Key, 119 Wn.2d 

- 20 -



600, 611, 836 P .2d 200, 206 (1992); In re Welfare of Myricks, 85 Wn.2d 

252, 254, 33 P.2d 841, 842 (1975); In re Messmer, 52 Wn.2d 510, 514, 

326 P.2d 1004, 1006 (1958). In this case, Mr. Killey is the petitioner; he 

participated at trial and testified; he presented evidence; he called his own 

witnesses; and he questioned Ms. Rodriguez' witnesses. While he 

represented himself-as did Ms. Rodriguez-his right to secure an 

attorney at trial was not taken from him by the trial court. The 

fundamental right of access to the courts guaranteed by the State 

Constitution does not include the right to publicly funded counsel in a 

dissolution action. King v. King, 162 Wn.2d 378, 391, 17 P.3d 659, 666 

(2007). 

Mr. Killey alleges that his due process rights were violated because 

the trial court relied on Ms. Hunter's testimony and a report based on an 

interview with him "in the absence of witnesses and of a court reporter." 

He argues this action was in violation ofRCW 26.09.191(6) requiring that 

the court "apply the civil rules of evidence, proof, and procedure." In a 

related argument, he states that both Ms. Hunter and Ms. Brewer made 

recommendations not authorized by statute. FCS investigations and 

reports are specifically authorized by King County Local Family Law 

Rule 13(b )(2) and by RCW 26.12.190(2) which permit the use of family 

court services for investigations, evaluations, and "any other services 
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[that] may be used to assist the court." GR 22(e) permits the filing of 

reports in family law cases-including Parenting Plan Evaluations and 

Domestic Violence Assessment Reports. RCW 26.09.220 allows the court 

to order an investigation and report regarding the parenting arrangements 

for children, and to admit the report into evidence at trial. 

Mr. Killey similarly argues that the trial court erroneously ordered 

him to comply with domestic violence perpetrator treatment relying "on 

the opinion of a social worker." The treatment requirement was imposed 

on Mr. Killey by the May 15, 2014, Order for Protection. Mr. Killey 

never appealed that order. The treatment requirement was imposed by the 

court, not by FCS. CP 69-75, CP 385, CP 430. RCW 26.50.060(e) 

specifically authorizes the court to order perpetrator treatment with the 

goal of ending the violence and holding the abuser accountable. See also 

RCW 26.50.150. The trial court admitted the Domestic Violence 

Assessment and the Parenting Plan Evaluation and has discretion to adopt 

the recommendations by FCS regarding treatment. 

Mr. Killey also objects to the trial court's Parenting Plan on 

evidentiary grounds. First, he argues the trial court testified about a video 

introduced by Mr. Killey instead of allowing him to testify about the 

content of the video. The record is clear that Mr. Killey showed a video 

from 9:06 a.m. to 9:08 a.m. without any audio, that the court told him to 
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show the video and not make any arguments about it, and that the court 

noted for the record that the video showed a couple of transfers involving 

the child. RP 46-50. The trial court did not provide any analysis or make 

any legal arguments involving the video. 

Mr. Killey claims the court abused its discretion when it refused to 

qualify his mother, Terry Bradley, as an expert witness on the child's 

medical records. Mr. Killey's mother testified that she is a grandmother 

so she has "seen a lot of childhood illnesses," that she has an associate 

degree in medical assisting, that she has worked in OB/GYN, and that she 

worked as a lab technician in a family practice. RP 26: 14-20. His mother 

is not a doctor, is not the child's medical care provider in any capacity, 

was not involved in preparing the child's medical records, and is not the 

custodian of the child's medical records. Referring to the child's medical 

condition, the trial court appropriately limited the paternal grandmother's 

testimony to what she had observed and prohibited testimony regarding 

the child's medical needs or diagnosis. RP 34-35, 42-43. In permitting 

expert witnesses, the "qualifications of expert witnesses are to be 

determined by the trial court within its sound discretion, and ruling on 

such matters will not be disturbed unless there is a manifest abuse of 

discretion." In re Detention of A.S., 138 Wn.2d 898, 917, 982 P.2d 1156, 

1166 ( 1999). Despite this limitation, the court allowed Mr. Killey' s 
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mother to testify about some content of the child's medical records but 

stopped the testimony when Mr. Killey asked his mother to offer an 

opinion on the child's medical condition and whether the child received 

proper treatment. RP 3 5-41. 

Mr. Killey's mother is not competent to testify as an expert witness 

on the child's medical condition or diagnosis and she is anything but a 

neutral witness. Her "expert testimony" included an allegation that Ms. 

Rodriguez had taken the child to the doctor with her current partner and 

"posed" as his mother. RP 27, 31. Ms. Hunter noted her review of an e-

mail from Mr. Killey's mother to Ms. Rodriguez' employer stating that 

Ms. Rodriguez was "a criminal who kidnapped her grandson, that she was 

being charged with crimes and was not able to legally work in the United 

States and should be fired." CP 441. Ms. Hunter also noted that Ms. 

Rodriguez' current partner, Kurt Krinke, reported losing his job as a result 

of the actions by the paternal grandmother. CP 444. Ms. Hunter 

concluded that the paternal grandmother's behavior was "a troubling 

example of abusive use of conflict that is directly harming the child 

emotionally and psychologically." CP 445, RP 121 :6-16. 

e. The Trial Court Properly Entered a Parenting Plan 
without any RCW 26.09.191 Restrictions against Ms. 
Rodriguez 

There is no evidence that Ms. Rodriguez abused Mr. Killey, as he 
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alleges. He alleges that on December 4, 2013, Ms. Rodriguez showed up 

to his apartment, verbally abused him when she learned he had not taken 

the child to the emergency room, and abducted the child by force. 

However, at trial Mr. Killey indicated that he knew Ms. Rodriguez was 

stopping by that day to take the child to the hospital. RP 18 :2-19. He 

admitted to FCS that he asked Ms. Rodriguez for visitation with the child 

while she was in his apartment; that she said no because of the medical 

appointment; and that Ms. Rodriguez regularly allowed him visitation with 

the child prior to this incident. CP 439-440, CP 444. He admitted to the 

police that he pushed Ms. Rodriguez from his bedroom on the day of the 

incident. CP 132. To FCS, he admitted pushing the child behind him 

purportedly to fend off her attack. CP 440. 

Ms. Rodriguez reported that on December 4, 2013, she was invited 

by Mr. Killey to walk into his bedroom to get the child while her partner 

waited outside the apartment; she described how as she was helping the 

child with his shoes, Mr. Killey inquired whether the child would be 

staying with him the following day. CP 132, CP 427. She said no because 

she was taking the child to the doctor. Mr. Killey became very upset and 

accused her of trying to take his son. He picked her up and jerked her by 

the arms and he tried to shove her out of the bedroom. During this 

incident the child was crying. Mr. Killey pushed the child behind him and 
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continued to shove her out the door. She tried to push the door back so 

that she could get the child. Mr. Killey then kicked her in the stomach 

causing her pain and knocking her away from the door at which point she 

called Mr. Krinke for help. CP 132, CP 427. Mr. Krinke stated he waited 

outside the apartment until he heard Ms. Rodriguez call for help; Ms. 

Rodriguez was crying outside the bedroom door; he knocked on the 

bedroom door and Mr. Killey opened it and pushed the child out the door, 

yelled profanities at them; and, as Mr. Killey continued to yell and 

threaten Ms. Rodriguez and Mr. Krinke, they carefully backed out of the 

apartment with the child and called the police. CP 132. The police 

determined Mr. Killey was the aggressor. CP 130, 133. 

Mr. Killey's allegations of child abuse and neglect are not 

supported by the record. The only medical records that were admitted by 

the court were the child's December 7, 2013, medical records.3 No other 

medical records were admitted and no one testified or provided evidence 

to support any of the allegations Mr. Killey now makes about abuse and 

neglect of the child. CP 368-372. As FCS noted, the child's medical 

records do not support this allegations. CP 444. The records show that 

Ms. Rodriguez has taken the child for regular medical treatment and 

exams-where providers are mandated to report any evidence of abuse. 

3 See December 7, 2013, medical records-CP 182-183. 
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CP 444. The FCS investigations revealed no concerns about Ms. 

Rodriguez' home environment. CP 430; RP 145-146. 

f. Mr. Killey Relies on Facts And Exhibits Not Admitted In 
The Record 

Under RAP 9.l(a), a court of appeals is generally limited to the 

materials that were before the trial court. See Dioxin/Organochlorine Ctr. 

v. Dep't of Ecology, 119 Wn.2d 761, 771, 837 P.2d 1007, 1013 (1992) 

citing Casco Co. v. Public Utility Dist. No. 1 of Thurston County, 37 

Wn.2d 777, 784785, 226 P.2d 235, 239 (1951) ("This court is a reviewing 

court, and, on appeal, considers only such evidence as was admitted in the 

trial court"). In this case, the trial court only admitted seven exhibits.4 

Mr. Killey has also referenced clerk's papers that were not in evidence and 

not relied on by the trial court.5 The only other exhibits at issue on appeal 

are those involving the Temporary Orders for Protection that Mr. Killey 

appears to be appealing. 6 The court should not consider any arguments 

based on exhibits not admitted at trial. 

2. APPEAL OF THE TEMPORARY ORDER FOR 
PROTECTION IS NOT TIMELY OR MERITORIOUS 

Under RAP 5.2(a), a notice of appeal must be filed within 30 days 

after entry of a decision by the trial court. Mr. Killey argues that the 

4 App. I 
5 App. 2 
6 App. 3 
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Temporary Order for Protection entered on February 13, 2014, and a 

subsequent Temporary Order entered on February 25, 2014, should be 

vacated. Neither appeal is timely. Mr. Killey filed notice of the 

underlying appeal on December 30, 2014, ten months after both temporary 

orders were entered. Neither order was in effect at the time of the appeal. 

A full Order for Protection was entered by the court on May 15, 2014, 

which is not subject to this appeal. The trial court incorporated the May 

15, 2014, Order for Protection into the Decree of Dissolution. CP 416, 

411-417. That act alone does not make it appealable. Even if Mr. Killey's 

arguments could be construed as appealing the May 15, 2014, Order for 

Protection, the appeal is neither timely nor meritorious. 

Mr. Killey's arguments have no merit. He argues the trial court 

relied on false testimony when it entered those temporary orders. He also 

argues the court itself testified and gave false testimony on Ms. 

Rodriguez' behalf. There is no evidence that the court did anything other 

than to explain to Mr. Killey that Ms. Rodriguez' arguments were 

corroborated by the child's medical records.7 RCW 26.50 authorizes the 

issuance of an order for protection if the party requesting it alleges "the 

existence of domestic violence ... and [declares] the specific facts and 

circumstances from which relief is sought." RCW 26.50.030(1); A 

7 See February 25, 2014, Report of Proceedings 17 
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protection order must be supported by a preponderance of the evidence. 

This standard requires the court to find that it was more likely than not that 

domestic violence occurred. Freeman, 169 Wn.2d at 673, 239 P.3d at 561. 

Here, the court heard from both parties, considered the arguments and 

evidence, and properly exercised its discretion when it entered the orders. 

D. CONCLUSION 

The court's findings and the record support the entry of a Parenting 

Plan that contains RCW 26.09.191 restrictions against Mr. Killey. The 

trial court's decision should be affirmed in its entirety. Appeal of the 

Order for Protection should be dismissed as untimely and unmeritorious.